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No. 08-35718

IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE NI NTH Cl RCU T

M STY CUMBI E,
Pl aintiff-Appellant,
V.
WOODY WOO, INC., et al.,

Def endant s- Appel | ees.

On Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the District of O egon

BRI EF FOR THE SECRETARY OF LABOR AS AM CUS CURI AE
I N SUPPORT OF PLAI NTI FF- APPELLANT

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 29, the

Secretary of Labor ("Secretary") submts this brief as am cus

curiae in support of plaintiff-appellant Msty Cunbie. The
district court in the above-captioned case conmtted |egal error
when it concluded that Cunbie, a tipped enpl oyee, was precl uded
from chal | engi ng her enpl oyer's (defendant-appell ee Wody Wo,
Inc.) invalid tip pool under section 3(m of the Fair Labor

St andards Act ("FLSA" or "Act"), because Wody Wo had not
elected to use the tip credit provided in that section of the
Act to pay its enployees a reduced cash wage. See 29 U S. C

203(m (allowi ng an enployer to take a tip credit against the



required cash wage paid to its tipped enpl oyees, and permtting
a mandatory tip pool if limted to enpl oyees who "custonmarily
and regularly receive tips"). The district court's concl usion
is contrary to the Departnment of Labor's ("Departnent"”) Wage and
Hour Division's ("Wage and Hour") | ongstandi ng position that
section 3(m of the Act (as anmended in 1974) governs ti pped

enpl oyees' wages generally, and therefore applies irrespective
whet her an enpl oyer elects a tip credit. By declining to defer
to Wage and Hour's interpretation of the statutory provision,
particularly as set forth in a 1989 opinion letter issued by the
Wage and Hour Adm nistrator and as supported by the rel evant

| egi slative history and caselaw, the district court incorrectly
construed the statutory provision, to the detrinment of |ow wage
ti pped enpl oyees.

STATEMENT OF | NTEREST OF THE SECRETARY OF LABCOR

The Secretary, who is responsible for the adm nistration
and enforcement of the FLSA, see 29 U.S.C 204(a), (b), 216(c),

217, has conpelling reasons to participate as anm cus curiae in

this appeal in support of the enployee, because the application
of section 3(m of the Act is central to achieving FLSA
conpliance with respect to tipped occupations. In this case,
even though the tipped enpl oyees were paid the m ni mum wage,
they then were required by the enployer, in contravention of

section 3(m of the Act, to contribute their tips to an invalid



tip pool, which redistributed the majority of those tips to non-
ti pped enpl oyees. Thus, an affirmance by this Court of the
district court's decision will alnost assuredly result in the

ti pped enpl oyees receiving less than they are entitled to under
the Act -- the m ninumwage free and clear plus all of their
tips. Moreover, the decision on appeal is contrary not only to
di spositive legislative history and to appellate and ot her
district court precedent, but to Departnment opinion letters
construing section 3(m of the Act to apply irrespective whether
t he enpl oyer has elected to take a tip credit under that
section.

STATEMENT OF THE | SSUE

Section 3(m of the FLSA, 29 U. S.C. 203(m, sets forth the
requirements for the paynent of tipped enployees. It permts an
enpl oyer to take a "tip credit" against the cash wage it is
required to pay its tipped enpl oyees, and permts the inposition
of a mandatory tip pool, provided the tip pool is limted to
enpl oyees who "customarily and regularly receive tips." Wody
Wo did not use the tip credit to pay its enployees a reduced
cash wage, but did require its tipped enpl oyees, including
Cunmbie, to turn over all the noney they received as tips to the
enpl oyer for a tip pool, which redistributed the majority of
that noney to enpl oyees who do not "customarily and regul arly"

receive tips. The issue presented is whether the district court



erred in its conclusion that the tipped enpl oyees were precluded
from chal | engi ng Whody Who's invalid tip pool under the FLSA
because the enpl oyer had not elected to use the FLSA s tip
credit provision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statenment of Facts and Course of Proceedi ngs

1. Msty Cunbie was enployed as a server at a restaurant
owned by Wody Wo, where she received cash wages fromthe

enpl oyer and tips fromrestaurant patrons. See Cunbie et al. v.

Wody Wo, Inc., 2008 W 2884484, at *1 (D. Or. 2008). Wbody

Wo paid its tipped enployees the full state m ni mum wage, which
was in excess of the federal minimumwage. 1d.' In accordance
with Oregon state |law, which prohibits enployers from
""includ[ing] any anount received by enployees as tips in
determ ni ng the anount of the m ni num wage required to be

paid,'" Wody Wo did not take a tip credit against its m ninmm

1 As the magistrate judge noted in his opinion, although the
conplaint did not specify the wages paid, Cunbie clarified at
argunment that she was paid at or above the Oregon m ni mum wage
at all tinmes relative to the conplaint. See Wody Wo, Inc.
2008 W. 2884484, at *1. For the three years prior to the filing
of the conplaint on April 25, 2008, the Oregon ni ni num wage
ranged from $7.25 to $7.95 per hour. The federal m ni num wage
over this sane period of time ranged from $5.15 to $5.85 per
hour. See, e.g., State of Oegon's Technical Assistance for
Enpl oyers, http://ww. oregon. gov/ BOLI / TA/ T_FAQ M n-

wage2008. shtml. Therefore, for the period covered by the
conpl ai nt, Wbody Wo paid Cunbie close to $2. 00 an hour above
t he federal m ni mum wage.




wage obligation. 1d. at *1-2, (quoting O R S. 653.035(3)).
Wody Wo did require its servers, however, to turn over al
their tips to atip pool. 1d. at *1; see appellant's brief at
47 (alleging that "[i]n order for Plaintiff to receive a check
for the m ni mum wage, she was required to turn over all of her
tips to her enployer").? The tip pool was used to distribute 55
to 70 percent of the tips contributed by servers to kitchen
staff. Wody Wo, 2008 W. 2884484, at *1. The renmi ning pool ed
tips were redistributed to the tipped enpl oyees according to a
per cent age cal cul ated by conparing the hours worked by an

i ndi vi dual server to the hours worked by all servers. 1d.

2. Cunbie and other tipped enpl oyees brought collective
and cl ass actions agai nst Wbody Who in federal district court
all eging that the enployer's mandatory tip pool that
redistributed tips to non-tipped enpl oyees viol ated section 3(n
of the FLSA and Oregon's wage and hour laws. Wody Wo filed a
notion to dismss, arguing that section 3(m's provision
restricting mandatory tip pools to those enpl oyees who
"customarily and regularly receive tips" applies only when an
enpl oyer has elected to take a "tip credit" provided under that

secti on.

2 "TU nder [Federal] Rule [of Givil Procedure] 12(b)(6),

all egations of material fact are taken as true and construed in
the light nost favorable to the plaintiff.” WIlliamO Glley
Enterprises, Inc. v. Atlantic Rchfield Co., -- F.3d --, 2009 W
878979, at *8 (9th Cr. 2009).




B. The District Court's Decision

In a July 25, 2008 opinion and order, Magistrate Judge Pau
Papak granted defendants' notion to dismss, holding that the
ti pped enpl oyees had not stated a claimfor which relief could

be granted under the FLSA or state law. Wody Wo, Inc., 2008

W. 2884484, at *6. Judge Papak rejected plaintiffs' argunent
that section 3(m's provision limting mandatory tip pools to
enpl oyees who "customarily and regularly receive tips" applies
even when an enpl oyer has not elected to use the Act's tip
credit, and declined to defer to a Wage and Hour opinion letter
t hat supported that position, on the ground that the letter's
interpretation conflicted with the plain | anguage of the Act.
Id. at *4-5. |Instead, he interpreted section 3(m's tip pooling
provision as "only nodif[ying] the tip credit provision; the
comrent on tip pooling does not function as an i ndependent
provision. Apart fromthe tip credit context, the FLSA remains
silent regarding tip pooling." I1d. at *3. Since Wody Wo, in
accordance with state law, did not elect to take the tip credit
and thereby did not use the tipped enpl oyees' tips to pay a
portion of their mnimum wage, Judge Papak concluded that the
FLSA's tip pooling restrictions were not inplicated, and Cunbie
consequently could not state a claimfor relief under the

st at ut e. Id. at *5.



SUMVARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 3(m of the FLSA (as anmended in 1974), which
governs the pay of tipped enpl oyees, states that an enpl oyer may
use a portion of its enployees' tips to take a limted credit
agai nst its mni num wage obligation. Absent such a credit, the
enpl oyer nust pay the full mnimum wage in cash. Section 3(m
al so permts enployers to i npose mandatory tip pools by which
tips are shared anong enpl oyees who customarily and regularly
receive them As a general matter, however, tips, as suns
presented to tipped enpl oyees by a custoner "as a gift or
gratuity in recognition of sone service perforned,” 29 C F. R
531.52, are the property of the enployee. See S. Rep. No. 93-
690, at p. 42 (1974).

A few courts, including the district court in this case,
have neverthel ess concluded that section 3(m's restrictions on
an enployer's ability to appropriate its enployees' tips (e.qg.,
[imting mandatory tip pools to those enpl oyees who custonarily
and regularly receive tips) are applicable only when an enpl oyer
elects to take a tip credit. As the Departnent publicly stated
i medi ately after the 1974 anmendnents to the FLSA, and as the
majority of courts have recogni zed, however, such an
interpretation of the Act is contrary to the legislative history
of the 1974 anendnents and would |l ead to absurd results. It

woul d permt an enployer who did not choose to utilize the tip



credit to use its enployees' tips in excess of the [imted use
aut horized in section 3(n in order to neet its m ni num wage
obl i gati ons.

In the present case, Wody Wo did not utilize section
3(m's "credit" against its m ninumwage obligations, but paid
its tipped enployees the full state m ni mum wage, which exceeded
the federal m ni mumwage. Wody Wo, however, also required its
ti pped enpl oyees to turn over all their tips to an invalid tip
pool, i.e., one that indisputably included enpl oyees who did not
"customarily and regularly receive tips." Therefore, even
t hough Wody Who was paying its tipped enpl oyees cash wages in
excess of the federal m ninum wage, it deprived these enpl oyees
of their statutory right to receive the full m nimum wage pl us
all tips they received. Therefore, the anpunts enpl oyees were
required to contribute to the invalid tip pool nust be
subtracted fromthe cash wages paid by the enployer; if this
calculation ultinmately shows that Cunbie and the other tipped
enpl oyees received a sumthat does not equal the full federa
m ni mum wage plus all tips received, Wody Wo did not pay its
ti pped enpl oyees the m nimum wage free and clear, in violation

of the FLSA. See 29 C.F.R 531.35.



ARGUVENT
THE DI STRI CT COURT ERRED WHEN | T CONCLUDED THAT A Tl PPED
EMPLOYEE WAS PRECLUDED FROM CHALLENG NG HER EMPLOYER S
INVALI D TI P POOL BECAUSE THE EMPLOYER HAD NOT ELECTED TO
TAKE A TIP CREDI T UNDER SECTI ON 3(nm) OF THE FLSA
1. The FLSA is a statute of broad renedial purpose. See

Rut herford Food Corp. v. McConb, 331 U S. 722, 727 (1947).

Congress enacted the FLSA to protect workers from "substandard

wages and oppressive working hours.” Barrentine v. Arkansas-

Best Freight Sys., Inc., 450 U S. 728, 739 (1981); see 29 U.S.C

202(a), (b) (congressional finding that "the existence, in

i ndustries engaged in comerce or in the production of goods for
commerce, of |abor conditions detrinmental to the maintenance of
the m ni mum standard of |iving necessary for health, efficiency,
and general well-being of workers" adversely affects conmerce,
and thus it is the policy, "through the exercise by Congress of
its power to regulate comrerce anong the several States and with
foreign nations, to correct and as rapidly as practicable to
elimnate the conditions above referred to in such industries

W t hout substantially curtailing enploynment or earning power").
The provisions of the Act are broadly construed "to apply to the
furthest reaches consistent with Congressional direction.” Kl em

v. County of Santa Clara, Cal., 208 F.3d 1085, 1089 (9th G

2000) (internal quotation marks omtted); see Real v. Driscol

Strawberry Assocs., Inc., 603 F.2d 748, 754 (9th Cr. 1979)




(courts define "enployer” and "enpl oyee" under the FLSA broadly
"to effectuate the broad renedi al purposes of the Act").

2. Prior to 1966, the conpensation of tipped enpl oyees was
often determ ned by an agreenent between the enpl oyer and

enpl oyees. See Usery v. Enersons Ltd., 1976 W. 1668, *2 (E.D.

Va. 1976) (citing, inter alia, Wllians v. Jacksonville Term nal

Co., 315 U S. 386 (1942)), vacated and remanded on ot her grounds

sub. nom Marshall v. Enersons Ltd., 593 F.2d 565 (4th Cr.

1979); Opinion Letter WH321, 1975 W. 40945 (Apr. 30, 1975).

Ti pped enpl oyees coul d agree, for exanple, that an enployer was

only obligated to pay cash wages when an enpl oyee's tips were

| ess than the m ni nrum wage, or that the enpl oyee's tips would be
turned over to the enpl oyer, who would then use the tips to pay

t he m ni rum wage. See Enersons, 1976 WL 1668, at *2.

The 1966 anmendnents to the FLSA expanded the coverage of
the Act to include restaurants and hotels, thereby extending
m ni nrum wage and overtinme protections to a | arge nunber of

ti pped enpl oyees. See Enersons, 1976 W. 1668, at *2. Congress

that sane year created a "tip credit” provision in section 3(m
of the Act, which permtted these newly covered enpl oyers to use
alimted portion of their enployees' tips as a credit agai nst

t hei r nini mum wage obligations. See id.?3

3 After the 1966 amendments, section 3(n) of the FLSA read as
foll ows:

10



There is sone question, reflected in the |egislative
history to the 1966 amendnments, as to whether Congress intended
the tip credit provision to abolish all tip-sharing agreenents
bet ween enpl oyers and enpl oyees. Conpare S. Rep. No. 1487

(1966), as reprinted in 1966 U . S.C.C A N 3002, 3014 (suggesting

that such agreements could continue) with 112 Cong. Rec. 11362-
63 (May 25, 1966) (statenent of Congressman Dent) ("[L]et us not
say from now on when you go into a restaurant that it is your
job or your duty not just alone to pay for your neal but to pay
the full wages of the enployees of that institution. | do not
bel i eve any Menber of Congress can really seriously consider
this kind of amendnment."). The Departnment's tip credit

regul ations promul gated in 1967 indicate that the Departnent

bel i eved that Congress intended in 1966 to retain such

In determ ning the wage of a tipped enpl oyee, the
anmount paid such enpl oyee by his enpl oyer shal

be deened to be increased on account of tips by
an anmount determ ned by the enployer, but not by
an anount in excess of 50 per centum of the
applicable m ni numwage rate, except that in the
case of an enployee who (either hinself or acting
t hrough his representative) shows to the

sati sfaction of the Secretary that the actual
amount of tips received by hi mwas | ess than the
anmount determ ned by the enployer as the anount
by which the wage paid himwas deened to be

i ncreased under this sentence, the anpunt paid
such enpl oyee by his enpl oyer shall be deened to
have been increased by such | esser anount.

Pub. L. No. 89-601, § 101(a), 80 Stat. 830 (1966).

11



agreenents. Thus, the tip credit regulations, which are stil

in place today, refer in several instances to enpl oynent
agreenents providing that tips are to be treated as the property
of the enployer, see, e.g., 29 C.F.R 531.59, and inply that
such agreenents are valid. See 29 CF.R 531.52 ("In the
absence of an agreenent to the contrary between the recipient
and a third party, a tip becones the property of the person in
recognition of whose service it is presented by the custoner.");
29 CF.R b531.55(a) ("[Where the enpl oynent agreenent is such

t hat amounts presented by custoners as tips belong to the

enpl oyer and nmust be credited or turned over to him the

enpl oyee is in effect collecting for his enployer additional
inconme fromthe operations of the latter's establishnment."); see

also 29 CF. R 531.55(b); 29 C.F.R 531.59.

3. In 1974, Congress again anended section 3(m of the Act
to require (1) that an enployer notify its enployees if it takes
the tip credit; (2) that the enployees retain all tips; and (3)
aut hori zing tip pools anong enpl oyees who "customarily and
regularly receive tips." See Pub. L. No. 93-259, 8§13, 88 Stat.

55 (1974).* The legislative history to the 1974 anendnents

“ After the 1974 anendnents, the tip credit provisions of
section 3(m read as foll ows:

In determ ning the wage of a tipped enpl oyee, the

anount pai d such enpl oyee by his enpl oyer shal
be deened to be increased on account of tips by

12



i ndi cates that Congress intended these changes to section 3(m
to make clear its original intent (in 1966) to prohibit al
agreenents whereby an enpl oyer and enpl oyee coul d agree that the
tips were the property of the enployer, or to use the enpl oyees
tips toward the enployer’'s m ni mum wage obligation except as
explicitly allowed under section 3(nm). See S. Rep. No. 93-690,
at 43 (1974). In other words, the 1974 amendnents were intended
to clarify that tips are a gratuity offered by custoners for

servi ces rendered, and that section 3(m's tip provision

an anmount determ ned by the enployer, but not by
an anmount in excess of 50 per centum of the
appl i cabl e m ni mum wage rate, except that the
anount of the increase on account of tips
determ ned by the enpl oyer may not exceed the
value of tips actually received by the enpl oyee.
The previous sentence shall not apply with
respect to any tipped enpl oyee unless (1) such
enpl oyee has been infornmed by the enpl oyer of the
provi sions of this subsection and (2) all tips
recei ved by such enpl oyee have been retai ned by
t he enpl oyee, except that this subsection shal
not be construed to prohibit the pooling of tips
anong enpl oyees who custonarily and regularly
receive tips.

Pub. L. No. 93-259, § 13, 88 Stat. 55 (1974) (enphasis added).
Thi s underlined | anguage fromthe 1974 anendnents to section
3(m is essentially the same as the current version of the |aw
Al t hough section 3(m's tip credit provision has been anended
since 1974 on several occasions -- in 1977 (Pub. L. No. 95-151,
8§ 3(b), 91 Stat. 1245); 1989 (Pub. L. No. 101-157, § 5, 103
Stat. 938); and 1996 (Pub. L. No. 104-188, § 2105(b), 110 Stat.
1755) -- these anmendnents changed only the applicabl e percentage
of enpl oyees' tips that could be taken as a tip credit agai nst
an enpl oyer's cash wage obligations. The cash wage required to
be paid by an enployer electing the tip credit was "frozen" by
the 1996 anendnents to section 3(m at $2.13 an hour.
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provided the only perm ssible uses of an enployees' tips. See
id.

Significantly, in considering the 1974 anendnents, Congress
referred to the Departnent's definition of a tip as "a sum
presented by a custoner as a gift or gratuity"” (29 CF. R
531.52). S. Rep. No. 96-690, at 42-43 (1974). Congress noted
t hat because tips belong to the enployee, there is "a serious
| egal question as to whether the enpl oyer should benefit from
tips to the extent that enployees are paid |less than the basic
m ni nrum wage because the enpl oyees are able to suppl enent their
wages by special services which bring themtips." 1d. The

| egislative history to the 1974 anendnents further notes that

the tip retention clause, in particular, was "added to make

clear the original Congressional intent that an enpl oyer could
not use the tips of a 'tipped enployee' to satisfy nore than 50
percent of the Act's applicable mninmmwage." S. Rep. No. 93-
690, at 43 (1974). Inplicit in the 50 percent limtation on an
enployer's tip credit is the understanding that the starting
poi nt nmust be that tips are the property of the enpl oyee. |If
tips are not the property of the enpl oyee, Congress woul d not
have needed to specify that an enployer is permtted to credit
its enployees' tips only in certain prescribed circunstances.
Thus, the clear intent of Congress in 1974 was to require an

enpl oyer under section 3(m either to take a credit against an
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enpl oyee's tips of up to the prescribed statutory differential,
or to pay the entire mnimum wage directly; under either
scenari o, the enployee is required to retain all tips (except
for contributions to a valid tip pool).

4. Imediately after the 1974 anendnents, the Departnment
acknow edged that Congress had strictly curtail ed an enpl oyer's
ability to take control of its enployees' tips, stating that
"[t] he amendnents to section 3(m of the Act would have no
nmeani ng or effect unless they prohibit agreenments under which
tips are credited or turned over to the enployer for use by the
enpl oyer in satisfying the nonetary requirenents of the Act."
Opinion Letter, June 21, 1974 (see Addendun); see Qpinion Letter

WH- 310, 1975 W. 40934 (Feb. 18, 1975) (same).> The Depart ment

® The Departnent's interpretation of section 3(n), as reflected

inits opinion letters, the FOH, and this amcus brief, is
entitled to deference under Skidnore v. Swift, 323 U. S 134
(1944). See Federal Exp. Corp. v. Hol owecki, 128 S. C. 1147,
1151 (2008) (deference for EEOC s statutory interpretation
enbodied in policy statenents contained in conpliance manual and
internal directives). Indeed, in Donovan v. Tavern Tal ent and
Pl acenents, Inc., 1986 W. 32746, at *5 (D. Colo. 1986), the
court rejected the defendant's position that the Departnent's
tip credit regulations permtted enployers and enpl oyees to
agree that tips were the property of the enployer on the ground
that a nunber of opinion letters issued by the Wage and Hour

Adm ni strator inmediately after the 1974 FLSA anendnents clearly
"repudi ated earlier opinions that sanctioned agreenents between
enpl oyers and enpl oyees to accept tips in |lieu of wages," and
put enployers on notice that "tips had to be retained by

enpl oyees as required by the Act and henceforth any agreenents
remtting tips to enployers were invalid."” Since the Departnent
had "maintained this interpretation of the statute for over ten
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indicated that the 1974 amendnents invalidated the broader
appropriation of enployees' tips allowed by the Departnent's
regulations. See id. It stated publicly inmmediately after the
1974 anmendnents that its tip credit regul ati ons were outdat ed,
and indicated that new regul ations were forthcom ng. See
Qpinion Letter WH 310, 1975 W. 40934, at *1 (Feb. 18, 1975)
("The [tip credit regulations] were issued pursuant to the Act
as it was before the 1974 anmendnents, and have no effect to the
extent that they are in conflict with the amended Act.");
Qpinion Letter WH 321, 1975 W. 40945 (April 30, 1975); see also
Opi nion Letter FLSA 2005-31, 2005 W 3308602, at *3 n.1 (Sept.

2, 2005); Davis v. B& S, Inc., 38 F. Supp. 2d 707, 714 n.10

(N.D. Ind. 1998) (recognizing that the Departnent's tip credit
regul ations do not reflect 1974 anendnents).

The Departnment has not promul gated a revision to these
outdated regul ations. Although the Departnent indicated its
intent to update its tip regulations to reflect the 1974
anendnents to section 3(n) again last year in a Notice of
Proposed Rul emaki ng, a Final Rule was not published. See 73
Fed. Reg. 43654 (July 28, 2008). Nevertheless, Wage and Hour's
| ongstandi ng position, as stated in a nunber of opinion letters

and in its Field Operations Handbook ("FOH'), is that the 1974

years," the court concluded, it was "obligated to give great
weight" to the position articulated in the opinion letters. 1d.
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Amendnents, by setting forth specific I[imtations on an
enployer's ability to credit its enployees' tips, establish that
tips otherwi se remain the property of the enployee. See, e.g.,
Qpinion Letter, 2001 W 1558958, at *1 (April 19, 2001) ("Since
t he passage of the 1974 Amendnents to the FLSA, it has been
clear that tips are the property of the enployee . . . .").
Accordi ngly, Wage and Hour has stated that an enployer is
prohibited fromrequiring his tipped enpl oyees (by agreenent or
otherwise) to turn over all their tips and then use a portion of
the tips to pay the required mni nrumwage. See, e.g., Opinion
Letter, June 21, 1974 ("[Where an enpl oyer acquires the tips of
a tipped enployee in contravention of section 3(m and uses such
tips to pay the enployee, the enployee has in effect waived his
rights to the m ninmumwage."); Opinion Letter WH 386, 1976 W
41739, at *4 (July 12, 1976) ("[T]he I aw forbids any arrangenent
whereby any part of the tips of a tipped enployee belong to the
enpl oyer or are retained by the enployer."); FOH 30d01(a)
("[T] he specific |anguage added to Sec. 3(m reinforces the
intent of Congress that . . . the enployer and enpl oyee cannot
agree to . . . waive [a tipped] enployee's right to retain al
tips received."). Simlarly, Wage and Hour has viewed a "tip
back" agreenent, where the enployee gives all his or her tips to
t he enpl oyer for application toward the enpl oyee's m ni num wage,

as a violation of the requirenent in 29 C. F.R 531. 35 that
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enpl oyees receive the full mninmumwage "free and clear."” See,
e.g., Opinion Letter WH 536, 1989 W. 610348 (Cct. 26, 1989).
Therefore, any references in the regulations to enpl oyer-

enpl oyee agreenents under which tips are considered to be the
property of the enployer are not valid after the 1974
amendnent s.

5. The Departnment's interpretation that the 1974 tip
credit amendnments strictly limt an enployer's ability to
appropriate its enployees' tips is supported by several
deci sions, including in cases brought by the Departnent. Those
deci sions hold that, pursuant to the 1974 anmendnents to section
3(m, agreenents to pay an enpl oyee's "cash wage" (after taking
a permssible tip credit) out of all or part of his or her tips
are invalid because tips are the property of the enployee, and
an enpl oyer's use of those tips is restricted to the permtted
uses specifically enumerated in section 3(m. Thus, in Martin

v. Tango's Restaurant, Inc., 969 F.2d 1319, 1322 (1992), the

First Crcuit stated that "[a] stranger to the FLSA m ght
suppose that, in determ ning an enployer's m ni nrum wage
obligations, the tips regularly received and retained by an
enpl oyee either would be treated as wages paid by the enpl oyer
or, in the alternative, would be wholly ignored. Instead, in a
| egi sl ative conprom se, Congress chose to all ow enpl oyers a

partial tip credit if, but only if, certain conditions are net."

18



And, in Richard v. Marriott Corp., 549 F.2d 303, 304-05 (4th

Cr.), cert. denied, 433 U S. 915 (1977), the court invalidated

a scheme where a cash wage was paid by the enpl oyer only when
t he enpl oyees' tips did not equal the m nimumwage. See Wi ght

v. U Let-Us Skycap Services, Inc., 648 F. Supp. 1216, 1217-18

(D. Colo. 1986) (invalidates scheme where enpl oyees were paid
m ni mum wage after turning all tips over to the enployer);

Tavern Talent, 1986 W. 32746, at *5 (citing S. Rep. 93-690, at

43 (1974), court invalidates "tip-back"” schenme where enpl oyees
pai d cash wage out of their own tips); Enersons, 1976 W. 1668,
at *4 (the 1974 anendnents nake cl ear that enpl oyees cannot
agree to permt an enployer to satisfy its full m ninum wage

obligation fromthe enployees' tips); cf. Chao v. FOSSCO |Inc.,

2006 W. 1041353 (WD. M. 2006) (holding that since tips are the
property of the enpl oyee, they cannot be added to salary
conput ati ons for purposes of determ ning whether the enpl oyees

are exempt from the FLSA’s overtime requirements); but see Cooper

v. Thomason, 2007 W. 306311, at *2 (D. Or. 2007) ("Tips are only

the property of the enployee if there is no agreenent to the

contrary."); Platek v. Duguesne O ub, 961 F. Supp. 835, 839

(WD. Pa. 1995) ("[T]ips are only the property of an enpl oyee

absent an agreenent to the contrary."), aff’d without opinion,

107 F.3d 863 (3d Cir.) (Table), cert. denied, 522 U S. 934

(1997). Thus, the clear intent of Congress, reflected in the
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Departnent's consistent position dating fromthe enactnent of
the 1974 amendnments and the weight of judicial authority, is
that tips belong to the enployee, and that no agreenent between
the enployer and its enpl oyees may override this fundanenta
entitlenent.

6. Despite the fact that section 3(n) provides the only
met hod by which an enpl oyer nmay use tips received by an enpl oyee
to satisfy the enployer's m ni num wage obligation, several
district courts, including the court in Wody Wo, have
concluded that the section 3(m requirenent that an enpl oyee
retain his tips and the related limtation on the distribution
of nmoney fromtip pools to enployees who "custonarily and
regularly receive tips" are applicable only when an enpl oyer

"clains" atip credit. See Wody Wo, 2008 W. 2884484, at *5

(citing Cooper, 2007 WL 306311, and Pl atek, 961 F. Supp. at

834):° see also Chan v. Triple 8 Palace, Inc., 2006 W. 851749, at

*15 (S.D.N. Y. 2006) (stating in dictumthat plaintiffs could
prevail under the FLSA for tip violations "only if defendants
have relied on the tip credit”). This cranped readi ng of

section 3(n), however, is contrary to a nore sensible reading of

® The mmgistrate judge accepted both plaintiff's contention that
under section 3(m), mandatory tip pools can include only those
enpl oyees who "customarily and regularly receive tips," and the
Departnent's gui dance on this subject that specifically excludes
fromtip pools enpl oyees such as cooks and di shwashers. Wody
Wo, 1989 W 2884484, at *3 (citing, inter alia, FOH 130d04(c)).
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the provision that accords with congressional intent and the
Departnent's | ongstanding interpretation of the 1974 anendnents.
Thus, while section 3(nm) sets out certain prerequisites for
the use of the tip credit (like notice to the enployee), it does
not state that tips no | onger are the property of the enpl oyee
if the enployer disclains the tip credit. 1In fact, it makes no
sense to allow an enployer to disclaimthe tip credit, yet
require the enployee to forfeit all of his tips, through an
invalid tip pool or otherwise. |In such a situation, the
reasoni ng of the district court would allow the enpl oyer to use
the enployee's tips to neet its entire mni mum wage obligation
or suppl enent the wages of non-tipped enpl oyees. |Indeed, if an
enpl oyer is able to take its enployees' tips to pay the full
m ni mrum wage, it would have no reason to elect the tip credit.

See generally N xon v. Mssouri Minicipal League, 541 U. S. 125,

128 (2004) (a statute should not be construed in a manner that

| eads to absurd results); Wiirlpool Corp. v. Marshall, 445 U. S

1, 11-13 (1980) (upholding the Secretary's regul ation
interpreting the Cccupational Safety and Health Act because that
regulation is consonant with the purposes of the statute and
"conplenent[s] its renedial schene").

This result would stand the amendnent to section 3(n) "on
its head" and would nean it has "acconplished nothing."

Ener sons, 1976 WL 1668, at *4 (court rejected the enployer's
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argunment that by not "using” the tip credit, it was free to neet
its entire m nimum wage obligation to an enpl oyee out of tips).

The Tenth Crcuit in Doty v. Elias, 733 F.2d 720, 724 (1984),

simlarly concluded that an interpretation of the FLSA that
permts an enployer to use all of its enployees' tips to pay the
m ni mum wage "does violence" to section 3(m, "would render nuch
of that section superfluous[,]"” and is contrary to Congress'
intent to permt enployers to use only a |limted percentage of
enpl oyees' tips against their m ninumwage obligations. And the
Fourth Crcuit observed, in the context of determ ning back
wages owed when the enployer did not take the tip credit but
used its enployees' tips to pay the entire m ni num wage, that
the fact that section 3(m permts an enployer to take a 50
percent credit toward an its m ninum wage obligation makes
"[t]he corollary . . . obvious and unavoi dable: if the enployer
does not follow the conmand of the statute, he gets no credit."”

Marriott Corp., 549 F.2d at 305. Finally, in Tavern Tal ent,

1986 W. 32746, at *4-5, the district court concluded that an
enpl oyer violated section 3(m even when it paid its enpl oyees
the full mninmumwage, because it required its tipped enpl oyees
to "tip back" a portion of their tips; in the words of the
court, "[i]f the enployer does not choose to pay according to
the nmet hod described in 3(m for tipped enployees then he nust

pay the full mnimum wage as prescribed by the Act." (G tation
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omtted.). The Departnent's opinion |letters al so have
consistently stated that enpl oyees' tips cannot be used to pay
the enpl oyees’ m nimum wage if the enpl oyer does not choose to
use section 3(m. See, e.g., Opinion Letter WH 536, 1989 W
610348 (Oct. 26, 1989); Opinion Letter WH 321, 1975 W 40945, at
*2 (April 30, 1975).

7. The district court in Wody Wo further erred when it
m sinterpreted and declined to accord Skidnore deference to a
1989 opinion letter signed by the Wage and Hour Adm ni strat or
that applies the agency's position on the application of section
3(m to facts alnpbst identical to those presented in this case.
See Opinion Letter WH 536, 1989 W. 610348 (Cct. 26, 1989). The
1989 letter addresses a situation where the enployer has not
elected to take the tip credit, and has instituted an invalid
tip pool that includes enpl oyees who do not customarily and
regularly receive tips. The district court in Wody Wo
understood the opinion letter to say that the Departnment
interprets the FLSA to prohibit tip pooling altogether, and
declined to accord the letter deference because such an
interpretation would directly conflict with section 3(m's
specific authorization of tip pooling. See 2008 W. 2884484, at
*4 ("Under [the opinion letter's rationale], all tip pooling

woul d be per se invalid because tip pooling by its very nature
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entails sonme deprivation of tips as a result of
redi stribution.").

The district court's inconplete reading of the 1989 letter
is faulty. Wiile there is no question after the 1974 anendnents
that tips are the property of the enployee, see supra, the
Depart nment recogni zes that an enpl oyer can redistribute a
portion of its enployees' tips through a mandatory tip pool,
provided that the tip pool is limted to enpl oyees who
customarily and regularly receive tips. See, e.g., Opinion
Letter, FLSA 2006-21, 2006 W. 1910966, at *1 (June 9, 2006)
("[E] mpl oyees nust retain all of their tips, except in the case
of valid tip pool arrangenents."); FOH 130d01(a) ("Pursuant to
Sec 3(m), all tips received . . . by a '"tipped enployee' nust be
retained by the enpl oyee except to the extent that there is a
valid pooling arrangenent."); FOH 130d04(a) ("The requirenent
that an enpl oyee nust retain all tips does not preclude tip-
splitting or pooling arrangenents anong enpl oyees who
customarily and regularly receive tips."). Thus, enployees who
contribute to a valid tip pool (conprised of "tipped" enployees)
are not "considered to have rebated the pooled tips originally
received by them to the enployer. Opinion Letter WH 536, 1989
W. 610348, at *3. However, nmandatory contributions to an
invalid tip pool -- i.e., anong enpl oyees who do not customarily

and regularly receive tips -- effectively require an enpl oyee to
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"contribute part of his or her property to the enployer or to

ot her persons for the benefit of the enployer, with the result
that the enpl oyee [potentially] would not have received the

m ni rum wage 'free and clear,' as required by section 531.35 of
[29 CF.R]." 1d. at *2 (citations omtted). As Wage and Hour
has explained, "[a] tip is given to the enpl oyee, not the

enpl oyer. Were an enpl oyer acquires the tips of a tipped

enpl oyee in contravention of section 3(m [through, for exanple,
an invalid tip pool] and uses such tips to pay the enployee, the
enpl oyee has in effect waived his rights to the mnimumwage [in
contravention of the Act]." Opinion Letter WH 489, 1978 W
51435 (Nov. 22, 1978).

8. Although mandatory contributions to invalid tip pools
unquestionably violate the principle articulated in section 3(m
that tips are the property of the enployee, the Secretary's
ability to enforce section 3(m is limted to instances where
violations result in mninmmwage or overtime violations. See
29 U . S.C. 216(c) (authorizes actions by the Secretary to enforce
the Act's m ni mum wage and overtinme provisions); 29 U S C 217
(authorizing DOL injunctive proceedings to restrain violations
of the Act's m ni mum wage, overtime, recordkeeping and child
| abor provisions). Thus, the 1989 opinion letter explains that
when an enpl oyee's required contribution to an invalid tip pool

is so great that he or she does not receive all of his or her
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tips plus the required m ni numwage, the "enpl oyee who has
originally received tips wll be considered to have contri buted
all such inproperly redistributed tips to the enployer,"”
resulting in a mnimmwage violation. Opinion Letter WH 536,
1989 W. 610348, at *3; conpare Opinion Letter FLSA 2006-21, 2006
WL 1910966 (June 9, 2006) (explaining that no FLSA action |ies
agai nst an enpl oyer who nakes inperm ssibl e deductions from cash
wages paid if those wages are in excess of the m ni mum wage and
t he deductions do not reduce the enpl oyee's pay bel ow the

m ni num wage) .

In the current case, Wody Wo paid its enpl oyees the ful
state Oregon m ni num wage, which at all tines relevant to this
litigation exceeded the federal m ni mumwage by nearly $2.00 an
hour. Therefore, Wody Wo coul d have nade "deductions" (for
pur poses of this case, mandatory contributions to an invalid tip
pool ) of approximately $2.00 an hour, since those deductions
woul d not reduce the tipped enpl oyees' direct wage paynent bel ow

the federal mininumwage.’ Since Wwody Wo required its tipped

" Under section 3(n), the "wage" of a tipped enpl oyee equals the
sum of the cash wage paid by the enployer and the anmount that
can permssibly be clainmed as a tip credit. The anount of tips
t he enpl oyee receives in excess of the tip credit are not

consi dered "wages" paid by the enployer and any "deductions”
fromthe enployee's tips nade by the enployer would result in a
violation of the enployer's mni numwage obligation. If, as in
this case, however, the enployer paid the enployee a direct wage
in excess of the m ninum wage, the enployer would be able to
make deductions so long as they did not reduce the direct wage
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enpl oyees to contribute all their tips to the tip pool, however,
and redistributed 55 to 70 percent of those tips to non-tipped
enpl oyees, it is likely that Wody Wo's "deducti on" exceeded
$2.00 an hour, so that the tipped enployees did not receive the
federal mnimumwage plus all tips received. See, e.g.

appel lant's opening brief at p. 9 ("[NJo server ends up with an
amount equal to the federal m ninumwage plus all tips given to
them by their custoners.").

Thus, a Whody Wo enpl oyee who received $10. 00 an hour in
tips, for exanple, was required to contribute all those tips to
an invalid tip pool. Wody Wo redistributed 55 to 70 percent
of those tips to enployees who did not customarily and regularly
receive tips, and returned the remaining 30 to 45 percent to the
ti pped enpl oyees. |If a tipped enployee received 30 percent, or
$3.00, of his or her tips back fromthe tip pool, plus $7.95
(the Oregon m ni num wage in effect when the conplaint was filed)
in cash wages, he or she woul d have received $10.95. This
amount is less than the total of the enployee's tips received
($10.00) plus the federal mininumwage that was in effect for at
| east one year of the enployee's enploynent ($5.85), $15. 85.
Therefore, in this circunstance, Wody Wo would be in violation

of the federal m ninum wage. The enployee would be entitled to

paynent bel ow the m ni mumwage. |In such a situation, the
deduction woul d be viewed as com ng fromthe enpl oyer's wage
paynment that exceeds the m ni num wage.
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recover $4.90 per hour, which is the difference between $15. 85,
the total of all tips received plus the federal m ni num wage,
and $10. 95, the anmount received after the tip pool distribution.

In sum if the tipped enployees did not receive the full
federal mnimumwage plus all tips received, they cannot be
deened under federal |law to have received the m ni nrum wage "free
and clear," and the noney diverted to the invalid tip pool is an
i mproper deduction fromwages that violates section 6 of the

Act .
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CONCLUSI ON

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse the

magi strate judge' s decision dism ssing Cunbie's conplaint.
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